1949

Ray D. Williams, A. U. Miner, Mima Thomas, Ila Thomas Lambert, P. P. Thomas, Max Thomas, Joseph Hanson, Roland J. Hanson and Roy Hanson, Elberta Land and Water Company v. Oren E. Barney and Thelma Barney, The Bank of Spanish Fork, and Utah County : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiffs are partners doing business as the  
Elberta Land and Water Company succeeding a former

partnership of the same name which had included Charles T. Dixon and A. T. Money but did not include plaintiffs Mima Thomas and Roy Hanson. Plaintiffs sue to quiet title to certain lands situated in Utah County. The answering defendants Oren E. Barney and Thelma Barney, his wife, by their answer disclaim as to all of the property except the following:

East one-half of the East one-half and the Northwest Quarter of the Northeast Quarter of Section 6, Township 11 South, Range 1 West, Salt Lake Meridian.

On the land described above, the answering defendants denied the claims of title and possession or right of possession of the plaintiffs and counterclaim in two causes of action to have title quieted in said answering defendants.

The plaintiffs received their title from the following sources:

a. From Lewis Thompson and wife to Utah Valley Land and Water Company by deed (plaintiffs' Exhibit "C") dated February 26, 1920 (no question was raised as to the right of the grantors in Exhibit "C" to pass good title and no question with regard to the title antedating the said Exhibit was presented).

b. Certificate of Sale under foreclosure by the First Security Bank of Provo (plaintiffs' Exhibit "D") against Utah Valley Land and Water Company, et al, dated November 21, 1933.

c. Assignment of the foregoing certificate by the bank to the Colorado Development Company, a corporation (plaintiffs' Exhibit "E") dated August 3, 1934.

d. Sheriff's Deed to Colorado Development Company, a corporation, (plaintiffs' Exhibit "F") dated August 16, 1934.

e. Quitclaim Deed (plaintiffs' Exhibit "G") from Colorado Development Company, a corporation, to O. A. Penrod dated November 27, 1937.

f. Quitclaim Deed (plaintiffs' Exhibit "H") from O. A. Penrod and wife to the Commercial Bank of Spanish Fork dated January 11, 1938, and recorded on December 29, 1944, in the office of the County Recorder of Utah County, Utah.

g. Quitclaim Deed (plaintiffs' Exhibit "I") from P. P. Thomas and Mima Thomas, his wife, Joseph Hanson, widower, and the Commercial Bank of Spanish Fork to Elberta Land and Water Company, a partnership, the plaintiff herein, dated March 29, 1945, and recorded on March 29, 1945, in the office of the County Recorder of Utah County, Utah.

The answering defendants Oren E. Barney and Thelma Barney claim the land by virtue of Auditor's Tax Deed (defendant's Exhibit 3) and quitclaim deeds dated November 3, 1941 from Utah County, (defendants' Exhibits 1 and 2), which deeds the defendants admitted were invalid because of the failure to advertise the May sale

for the required twenty-eight days and the absence of the affidavit from the tax rolls. (T. 77-78).

The defendants pleaded two further affirmative defenses and counter-claims which they maintained prevented the plaintiffs from asserting title as against the defendant and which they claimed would require the court to quiet title in defendants.

The first cause of counterclaim alleges that the lands in issue were conveyed to O. A. Penrod by the Colorado Development Company by quit claim deed upon Penrod's payment to it of \$2500, which sum, or the greater part thereof, was supplied to him by the Commercial Bank of Spanish Fork by and through P. P. Thomas, one of the plaintiffs, and that on or about December 8, 1937, P. P. Thomas and O. A. Penrod advised the users of water of the old Utah Valley Land & Water Company, which included these defendants, that if they, the users, would repay the \$2500 advanced by the Commercial Bank of Spanish Fork, that they could have the property purchased by Penrod from the Colorado Development Company, and that assessments were levied against the water users from which the bank was paid in full, and thereupon the defendants, with the other water users, became entitled to the purchases made by Penrod including the described lands. That at that time the lands had been sold to Utah County for taxes, and that thereafter O. A. Penrod purchased some of the same lands from Utah County, and that under these facts, the plaintiffs now have no equitable right to claim the lands in issue.

The second cause of counterclaim sets up that prior to the purchase of the lands from the Colorado Development Company O. A. Penrod was a member of a committee of residents of Elberta, Utah, and surrounding territory, to investigate the possibilities of acquiring the water rights of the Utah Valley Land & Water Company, and the land of the Colorado Development Company, which was formerly irrigated by such water, and as such obtained an option to purchase, and thereafter did acquire all of the water rights of the Utah Valley Land & Water Company and certain of the lands held by the Colorado Development Company, all of which had previously been sold to Utah County for delinquent taxes. Some of the land purchased by Penrod had not previously been, and no water could be supplied from the system as it was constructed. That Penrod, with the financial help of P. P. Thomas, as president of the Commercial Bank of Spanish Fork, purchased from Utah County much of the land that had been formerly irrigated by the system conveyed to Penrod by the Utah Valley Land & Water Company, and that thereafter, on or about June 3, 1940, while he was still record owner of the lands in question here, and at a meeting with the County Commission of Utah County, Penrod informed a committee of the land owners that he and his associates had bought all the land they wanted from Utah County and that the people living in and about Elberta could go ahead and buy from the county the balance of the land that had been sold to him by the Colorado Development Company and which had been sold to Utah County for delinquent taxes. That in



reliance upon the statement and representation of Penrod, defendants purchased the land in issue here under a contract from the county, and upon completion of payment received the county's deeds, and that now the plaintiffs as remote grantees from Penrod are estopped from asserting any claim to the property, or that the tax procedure under which defendants purchased was invalid.

The plaintiffs presented their documentary evidence through exhibits by stipulations of the parties and then rested. The defendants then put on evidence both by documents and oral testimony. At the conclusion of defendants' testimony and after defendants rested, plaintiffs moved the court for an order dismissing the affirmative answers and counter-claims of the defendants and for judgment on the complaint (T. 75-76) which motion the court denied.

The court found that the plaintiffs were not bonafide purchasers without notice and for value of the land in issue and were estopped to set up the claim that the quit-claim deeds from Utah County conveying the land to the defendants are invalid and that the plaintiffs and each of them are estopped to claim the land involved in this action. The court thereupon entered its decree in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiffs and decreed that the defendants Oren E. Barney and Thelma Barney, his wife, are the owners of the property in controversy and quieting title in said property in said defendants. Defendants were awarded costs in the action.

From the judgment of the District Court plaintiffs appeal.

### ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

1. The court erred in denying plaintiffs' motion for a dismissal of defendants' counter-claims and for judgment in favor of plaintiffs.

2. The Findings of Fact (R. 51-55) are not supported by the evidence.

3. The Findings of Fact (R. 51-55) do not support the Conclusions of Law (R. 55-56).

4. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are insufficient to support the Decree (R. 57-58).

5. The court erred in admitting hearsay testimony and other inadmissible evidence on the part of the defendants over objections of the plaintiffs.

### POINTS FOR ARGUMENT

It is believed that the errors assigned can be best consolidated and covered in argument under the following headings:

#### I.

*The plaintiffs evidence established in them a good title and there was no competent evidence sufficient to defeat such title.*

(a) *The evidence permitted to be introduced by defendants to attack plaintiffs' title was inadmissible and*

*incompetent under the statute of frauds, Sections 33-5-1 and 33-5-3, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, and was further inadmissible as being hearsay.*

## II.

*The findings of fact are not supported by the evidence.*

## III.

*The findings of fact do not support the conclusions of Law or the Decree.*

## III. (a)

*There was no competent evidence sufficient to raise an estoppel in defendants' favor and to thus prevent plaintiffs from asserting claim to the subject property or to estop plaintiffs from attacking the validity of defendants' title.*

## ARGUMENT

### 1.

*The plaintiffs evidence established in them a good title and there was no competent evidence sufficient to defeat such title.*

There can be no doubt, nor have defendants ever questioned, that the instruments introduced by plaintiffs in support of plaintiffs' title were ample and sufficient to establish title in them unless for some reason they were estopped from asserting their title. This was recognized

by the court in its memorandum opinion. (Record 38). The record and plaintiffs' exhibits "C," "D," "E," "F," "G," "H," and "I" speak for themselves and clearly establish in the plaintiffs' a good title to the property. It is believed that no argument need be made with regard to this particular phase of the case, except as covered under other headings herein.

### I (a).

*The evidence permitted to be introduced by the defendants to attack plaintiffs' title was inadmissible and incompetent under the statute of frauds, Sections 33-5-1 and 33-5-3, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, and was further inadmissible as being hearsay.*

During the course of the trial the defendants were permitted to introduce evidence and testimony at various times with regard to conversations had by the defendants with persons other than the plaintiffs, or any of them, and outside the presence of the plaintiffs, or any of them. (T. 37-39, 47, 65).

Testimony was permitted to be given by Valeria Bauer that at a meeting of county commissioners on June 3, 1940, attended by several persons, not including any party to this action, O. A. Penrod stated that he and his partners had all the land they now desired. (T. 37-39). Excerpts from the minutes of such meeting were also permitted to be introduced. (T. 47). Earl Barney (the father of the defendant Oren E. Barney) was present at such meeting and was permitted to testify concerning

conversations and happenings there. (T. 50). Later the defendant Oren E. Barney was permitted to testify concerning statements his father made to him as to conversations at said meeting. (T. 65-67).

As above stated, at no time was any party to this action present at any such meeting or when any such conversations allegedly took place. Clearly such testimony was inadmissible as hearsay and cannot in any way bind these plaintiffs. True in several instances in connection with the admission of such testimony, and in fact other very questionable testimony, the court indicated that the admissibility of such testimony was questionable but stated that inasmuch as the case was being tried before a judge rather than before a jury it was deemed such testimony would be received "pro forma" for what it was worth and if he did not later think it was admissible or competent or relevant he would disregard it. In that connection, while we appreciate the fact that courts are often more lenient with the admissibility of evidence in a matter being tried before a judge without a jury, it seems to us that in this case such procedure was carried far beyond the realms of legal propriety. We submit that judges are only human and when a judge, regardless of his honesty or integrity or his confidence in his own ability to separate the wheat from the chaff, permits indiscriminately the admissibility of all kinds of testimony, whether relevant or otherwise but which may, if considered, be persuasive, that such judge no matter how he may try does not and cannot erase from his mind the effect of such testimony; and where, as here, such an

abundance of testimony was admitted in such a way it seems to us that it was prejudicial error to do so.

During the course of the trial testimony was permitted to be introduced concerning promises allegedly made by one O. A. Penrod, the remote grantor of the plaintiffs, at a meeting attended by a group of residents of Elberta and vicinity, (of which group the defendants were not members) to the effect that if certain payments were made by the group of water users attending such meeting that such water users could have the property purchased by Penrod from the Colorado Development Company (which included the subject property). It was alleged that P. P. Thomas was present at such meeting and acquiesced in the statements of Penrod, P. P. Thomas then and there being president of the Commercial Bank of Spanish Fork, which had advanced money with which Penrod purchased said property. Under any theory if such promises were made they were nothing more than verbal promises to transfer an interest in real property in the event certain things were done by the water users who attended the meeting. Clearly those oral statements and agreements, if in fact made, fall within the statute of frauds and were not admissible or competent to establish any agreement or understanding with regard to the transfer or promises to transfer an interest in the real property in question. (*See Sections 33-5-1 and 33-5-3, Utah Code Annotated, 1943.*)

## II.

*The findings of fact are not supported by the evidence.*

Under Finding No. 15 the court, in addition to other things, found: "That O. A. Penrod aided defendants in making their selection of the land purchased by defendants from Utah County." There is not one word of evidence in the entire record to support this finding. In fact there is no evidence that the defendants ever talked with or had any dealings with O. A. Penrod as to this property. All of the evidence is to the contrary. Neither of the defendants were present at the meeting with the commissioners on June 3, 1940. Perhaps the court became confused because there was a man named "Barney" who was present at that meeting but that was the father of the defendant, namely: Earl Barney. (T. 37-39 and 50). The defendant Oren Barney's testimony is to the effect that his wife and father accompanied him to the county commission's office when he made his selection of the land which he purchased (T. 64) and nowhere is it indicated that Penrod or any of the defendants had anything to do with such selection or were present when it was made.

Under Finding of Fact No. 17 the court found:

"That the plaintiffs had notice of defendants' claim of title through P. P. Thomas, Max Thomas and Joseph Hanson."

There is absolutely nothing in the evidence to support such a finding. Nowhere can any evidence be found which

would show that P. P. Thomas or Max Thomas or Joseph Hanson had at any time prior to the time the property was transferred to plaintiffs or even at any time prior to the commencement of the action known of the representations and actions which are attributable to O. A. Penrod on June 3, 1940. No one ever testified that Penrod or anyone advised the plaintiffs, or any of them, or anyone acting for them as to such statements or activities of Penrod nor is there any evidence whatsoever to show that at the time the plaintiffs or their immediate grantors received the deed to the property in question that plaintiffs had any notice at all of the claim of the defendants.

Under Finding No. 18 the court found as follows:

“That P. P. Thomas had knowledge of the facts constituting equitable estoppel in favor of defendants at the time the Commercial Bank of Spanish Fork, P. P. Thomas and wife and Joseph Hanson conveyed the property in issue to plaintiff as partners.”

As will be hereinafter pointed out it is our contention that Finding No. 18 is not in any respect a finding of fact but is entirely a conclusion of law. This matter, however, will be covered in another part of the argument. In connection with such finding, however, it should be stated that there is absolutely no competent evidence to support the finding made. Because of the ambiguity of the finding as to just what facts “constituting an equitable estoppel” are referred to, it is difficult to meet



this matter squarely. However, for purposes of this part of the argument, we must assume that the court referred to the representations and statements attributed to O. A. Penrod and to his alleged activities in connection therewith on June 3, 1940 when it is contended that Penrod stated that he and his "partners" or "workers" had purchased all the land they wanted. With regard to such matter the record is absolutely void of any evidence whatsoever indicating that P. P. Thomas knew of the supposed representations or statements or conduct of Penrod. If Penrod in fact made such statements there is nothing in the record to show who was referred to by "his partners" or "workers" or to show that any of the defendants were included or intended by him to be included therein. Even if Penrod had expressly mentioned the plaintiffs or any of them as being his "partners" or "workers," such declaration by him would not be competent to establish such relationship. There is no evidence that P. P. Thomas or any of the plaintiffs or their immediate grantors acquiesced in or joined Penrod in connection with such statements or agreed or intended to be bound by such statements or actions by Penrod. There is nothing to show that dealings previously had by P. P. Thomas and Thomas' associates with Penrod were such that Penrod represented them or was in any way in a position to speak for them or that Penrod was bound to or that he did convey to Thomas or his associates any information as to the representations which he may have made to the defendants, and certainly there is nothing to show that any of the defendants were "partners" or "workers" of Penrod.

Even, therefore, if P. P. Thomas knew of these representations at the time of the transfer of the property to the plaintiffs such representations were in no way binding upon Thomas or any of the plaintiffs. They were all made after title had been transferred from Penrod and he was in no position to speak for or bind any person having title to the property and particularly in no position to bind the plaintiffs or their immediate grantors.

Under Finding No. 19 the court finds:

“That plaintiffs are not bona fide purchasers without notice and for value of the land in issue and are estopped to set up the claim that the quit claim deeds from Utah County, conveying the land to defendants, are not valid against plaintiffs.”

With regard to such finding and particularly the finding that the plaintiffs were not purchasers for value it is interesting to note the statement of the court in his memorandum decision (T. 47) to the effect that: “The evidence disclosing a recited consideration merely, with no value paid, the plaintiffs who may not have had notice of the defendants’ claim are still not protected against the equity.” Where in the evidence is there anything from which it can be concluded that “there was no value paid”? The deeds to the plaintiffs and their predecessors all recite a consideration. There is nothing to show that such consideration was not in fact paid and the rule certainly is that where a consideration is recited it is presumed to have been paid. The defendants did not introduce any evidence to refute such presumption and we

must presume that a valuable consideration was paid as is recited in the deeds. (16 Am. Juris, p. 653).

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