1949

Ray D. Williams, A. U. Miner, Mima Thomas, Ila Thomas Lambert, P. P. Thomas, Max Thomas, Joseph Hanson, Roland J. Hanson and Roy Hanson, Elberta Land and Water Company v. Oren E. Barney and Thelma Barney, The Bank of Spanish Fork, and Utah County : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

The appeal should be dismissed because of failure on the part of appellants to comply with Rule 8 of the Rules of Practice of this court, in that the assignment of errors are insufficient to point out specifically to this court wherein the lower court erred.

(a) Assignment of error No. 1, charging error in the denial of plaintiffs' motion for a dismissal of defendants' counter claim and for judgment, is not sufficient to call the court's attention to the specific error relied on or any reason why the court's rulings constituted error.

In 3 Am. Jur. Page 293, Sec. 703, the author says:

"An assignment of error must be specific; a general assignment, without specification of the particular point relied on, gives no information to the appellate court or to the adverse party and will not, as a general rule, be considered . . . ."

The author cites under Note 15, cases holding that an assignment of error that the court erred in denying a motion for a new trial is too general to be available.

(b) Assignment of error No. 2 assigns error against all of the findings of fact. It singles out no specific finding and is ineffectual.

In 3 Am. Jur. Pages 287-288, Sec. 695, the author says:

"It is well recognized that the appellant must assign errors relied on for reversal for the purpose of informing the appellate court and the adverse party of the matters relied on as error, inasmuch as it is not the duty of the appellate court to search the record for errors . . . ."

In 3 Am. Jur. Page 300, Sec. 712 the rule is stated thus:

"Where there are several findings of fact, a general assignment of error that the decision is not supported by the evidence is insufficient to call in question the correctness of any particular finding of fact."

(c) Appellants' assignment of error No. 3 fails to point out any particular wherein the findings of fact do

not support the conclusions of law and we believe are subject to the objections heretofore noted.

(b) Appellants' assignment of error No. 4 fails to point out wherein the findings of fact and conclusions of law are insufficient to support the decree and are governed by the same rules as we have pointed out with respect to the last two assignments.

(e) Assignment of error No. 5, charging the admission of heresay testimony and **other inadmissible evidence**, is equally objectionable. Nothing is contained in said assignment to call the court's attention to the errors relied on.

In 3 Am. Jur. Page 296, Sec 708, the author says:

"The general rule that assignments of error must be specific applies to assignments based on the rulings of the trial court in regard to matters of evidence. Thus, an assignment of error in the admission or exclusion of evidence, to be sufficient, must be specific and must clearly indicate the particular rulings complained of . . . ."

## II.

THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS (SEC. 33-5-1 & SEC. 33-5-3 UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1943) IS NO BAR TO ESTABLISHING RIGHTS IN REALTY THROUGH EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL

In 19 Am. Jur. Title Estoppel, Page 743-& 4, Sec. 87, the author says:

"The rule is well settled in modern law that the title to land or real property may pass by an equitable estoppel, which is effectual to take the title to land from one person and vest it in another where justice requires that such action be done . . . The majority rule is to the effect that to permit the transfer of title by operation of equitable estoppel does not contravene the statute and that the legal title may be so transferred. In other states in which it is held that a legal title cannot be affected by equitable proceedings, such as an equitable defense of estoppel, it is nevertheless held that the holder of the legal title may be precluded by equity from setting up the defense of the statute of frauds and that the title may pass by operation of an equitable estoppel in spite of the statute. In only a few jurisdictions has it ever been held that the statute of frauds prevents the passage of title by means of the doctrine of equitable estoppel . . ."

In the case of *Albachten v. Bradley* (Minnesota) 3 N.W. 2d. 783, the action was on a promissory note to which a defense was set up that the action was barred by the statute of limitations. Plaintiff sought to avoid the bar of the statute by evidence of an agreement of the parties extending the time of payment and by an estoppel on the part of defendant to set up the statute of limitations as a defense.

In answering the contention of defendant that the estoppel set up was violative of the statute of frauds, the

Minnesota court at page 786 of the report said:

"The objection that an estoppel may not operate to create rights which under the statute can be created only by an instrument in writing signed by the party chargeable is of no avail. Our decisions have settled the rule contrary to the objection. Estoppel may preclude a party from asserting the lack of a writing required by statute. In *Dimond v. Manhein*, 61 Minn. 178, 63 N.W. 495, 497, *supra*, Mr. Justice Mitchell said: 'While at one time the courts hesitated to apply the doctrine so as to give or divest an estate or interest in land, as being opposed to the letter of the statute of frauds, yet it is now well settled that a person may by his conduct estop himself from asserting his title to real property, as well as to personality. The overwhelming weight of authority supports this view'."

This court in the case of *Bracken v. Chadburn* 55 Utah, 430; 185 Pac. 1021, said at page 437 of the Utah Report:

"The statute of frauds cannot be invoked to defeat plaintiffs' rights under a state of facts as shown by this record. Whatever may have been the various and devious interpretations given by the courts to Statute 29, Charles II, it has never been construed to be an instrument of fraud; and such would be the effect if the defendant Chadburn were premitted to successfully invoke it in this action . . . ."

## III.

COMPETENT EVIDENCE OFFERED AND RECEIVED BY THE COURT WAS SUFFICIENT TO RAISE AN ESTOPPEL IN DEFENDANTS' FAVOR PREVENTING PLAINTIFFS FROM ASSERTING CLAIM TO THE PROPERTY INVOLVED AND JUSTIFYING THE COURT IN QUIETING TITLE IN DEFENDANTS.

We believe the merits of the case can be presented under point III, if the court declines to dismiss the appeal under our point I.

We concede that the tax procedure followed in connection with the sale of the property involved was ineffectual to convey full legal title to defendants under the quit claim deeds from Utah County. (Exhibits "1" & "2".) But we submit that said deeds were sufficient to create a color of title which a court of equity, under the facts established, will protect and against which appellants will be prevented from asserting their otherwise valid title. (*Bozievish v. Slechta*, 109 Utah 373—166 Pac. 2nd, 239.)

In our statement of facts we have set out in detail the history of the Elberta project. The land involved in this action was purchased by O. A. Penrod from the Colorado Development Co. (Exhibit "G") November 27, 1937. On the same day Penrod purchased from the Utah Valley Land & Water Co. the reservoir, flumes, laterals, water rights, etc. (Exhibit "5") at a total consideration of \$2500.00.

As pointed out in our statement of facts, P. P. Thomas, one of plaintiffs, attended the mass meetings at Elberta held December 8th and December 11th, 1937. It is disclosed by the meeting of December 11th, which was attended by members of the Utah County Commission, that the land under the Elberta project had gone to tax sale. Penrod stated that the committee appointed met with the county commission asking about the delinquent tax lands and were advised that there were about 2200 acres for sale. (Exhibit "7"). In addition to the land that had been formerly irrigated and was below the canal, there was considerable land purchased by Penrod that lay above the canal and could not be irrigated. (Tr. 50 to 54. Particularly Page 52). The land involved in this action was land that could not be irrigated. It was described by P. P. Thomas as being dry, desert land. (Tr. 93).

P. P. Thomas, Max Thomas and Joseph Hanson, plaintiffs, attended the meeting of December 11, 1937. Max Thomas and Joseph Hanson, two of the plaintiffs, were present on December 11th when P. P. Thomas, one of the plaintiffs, spoke as a representative of the bank from which O. A. Penrod borrowed the money. They presumably heard him say that at first they were not interested in redeeming this land but since the meeting the other night (presumably the meeting of December 8th, 1937) they were much interested in order that they can sell their 60 acres.

It must be presumed that Max Thomas and Joseph Hanson, two of plaintiffs, heard P. P. Thomas say on December 11th, 1937 (Exhibit "8"),

"Penrod holds all the company holdings so the dealings would be with him. All are familiar with his proposition so better figure out what kind of a district is best and form it."

The minutes of the meeting held November 21, 1937 (Exhibit "6") disclose that Mr. Penrod reported that he had contacted the county commissioners and that Mr. Johnson said to tell the people they would not sell to an individual such as a person wanting it for sheep range and they could give clear title to all the land the county owned. He further stated that the bank (presumably First Security Bank of Provo as disclosed by (Exhibit "D", "J", "E", & "F".) would let go of their holdings for \$2500.00 which meant the reservoir and canal and what land they now held:

One or two points are very important to bear in mind in connection with this matter.

**First**—one month after P. P. Thomas had called the attention of the residents of Elberta to the fact that Penrod held all of the company holdings and they should do business with him, a secret deed was executed by O. A. Penrod (Exhibit "H") by which Penrod and wife conveyed to the Commercial Bank of Spanish Fork, of which P. P. Thomas and Joseph Hanson were officers, all the property Penrod had purchased under the deed from Colorado

Development Co. (Exhibit "G").

It is significant that this deed dated January 11, 1938 was never put of record until December 29, 1944.

There is nothing in the record anywhere to indicate that P. P. Thomas, Joseph Hanson, Max Thomas or O. A. Penrod ever advised any of the residents of Elberta that O. A. Penrod had conveyed the property, which stood on the record in his name, to the Commercial Bank of Spanish Fork. Such was the state of the record at the time defendants purchased the property involved in this action from Utah County.

**Secondly**, it is important to observe that defendants purchased part of their irrigated land from James H. Mikkelson and wife (Exhibit "10"). The deed recites that the Mikkelsons are residents of Fountain Green. The acknowledgment was taken in Sanpete County. The minutes of the meeting held September 21, 1937 (Exhibit "6") disclose that J. H. Mikkelson took an active part in said meeting. (We admit that the initials appear to be J. W. Mikkelson).

Earl Barney testified that **James Mikkelson from Fountain Green** was a member of the committee that waited upon the county commission June 3, 1940 (Tr. 49) and that this committee was appointed by citizens of Elberta (Tr. 48).

Oren Barney testified that he owned stock in the Current Creek Irrigation Company. That he acquired

the stock from his predecessor in interest and that the stock was surrendered by him and new certificates issued. (Tr. 62-63).

**Thirdly**, it is significant that the Articles of Incorporation introduced by plaintiffs No. 1417, No. 1431 and No. 1439, together with plaintiffs' Exhibits "J", "K", and "L", follow definitely the pattern set out and outlined by Mr. Thomas on December 11, 1937 (Exhibit "8").

O. A. Penrod and wife, on December 16, 1939, conveyed to Current Creek Irrigation Company (Exhibit "5") all of the irrigation system formerly owned by Utah Lake, Land, Water & Power Co. including the reservoir, dams, canals, flumes, ditches, etc. for the sum of \$3500.00 and certain shares of stock. This deed was acknowledged before Charles H. Dixon, one of the partners of Elberta Land & Water Co. at the time the first affidavit of doing business under an assumed name was filed. (Exhibit "O"). This deed was never recorded.

Defendants' Exhibit 7 discloses that a motion was made that Mr. Ballif prepare preliminary paper for organizing and cooperating and present them to the people to be read and signed. Mr. P. P. Thomas testified that after meetings of December 8th and December 11th, 1937 (Exhibits "7" & "8") that certain agreements were drawn up.

Counsel for plaintiffs introduced plaintiffs' Exhibit "J" in cross examination of Earl Barney. An examination of Exhibit "J" will disclose that it provided for the forma-

tion of an irrigation company or for doing business through the company already formed. That O. A. Penrod was to convey to the corporation all right, title and interest that he had in the project and that the sum of \$3500.00 should be paid to O. A. Penrod for the project which he had heretofore purchased and that said money should be repaid by levying an assessment upon all the water stock issued.

Exhibit "J" purports to have been signed by J. H. Mikkelson, predecessor in interest of defendants, as well as by Robert E. Clements. Defendants purchased irrigated land in Elberta from J. H. Mikkelson and Robert E. Clements (Exhibits "9" & "10". Tr. 58 & 59).

Mr. Thomas testified that Exhibits "K" and "L" were drawn up by Mr. Ballif.

Exhibit "K" verifies the testimony of Mrs. Bauer and alleges that the Utah Valley Land & Water Co. "which has heretofore owned the water system and served the water users in connection with the Elberta project in Utah County, State of Utah, is now defunct and its corporate charter has been revoked by the Tax Commission of the State of Utah, leaving the said Elberta Project in an unorganized condition . . . ." It recites that the First Party (O. A. Penrod) has bought the right, title and interest of the Utah Valley Land & Water Co. in and to said water system and now owns the same. That Second Parties are those who either owned land and water rights or desire to acquire the same. It is then alleged:

"Whereas, much of the land located in said Elberta project **has gone to tax deed and is now owned by Utah County** and the County Commissioners of said County are desirous of selling said lands back to any of the parties to this agreement and others desiring to make their homes on said Elberta Project . . . . "

It is then recited that the parties are desirous of preserving their mutual interests ,and then alleges that:

"Whereas, the First Party is desirous of conveying to said water company, as soon as its organization is completed, all right, title and interest recently purchased by him in the said Elberta Project Water system . . . . "

Then the proposed agreement and mutual promises follow (on page 2) and provide, among other things, that "a mutual water stock company be incorporated; that as soon as the water company comes into legal existence, First Party shall convey all his right, title and interest in and to the project, . . . . . and that all the parties hereto shall pay into said water company, as soon as the same comes into legal existence, their respective per share assessment in the amount and at the place hereinafter provided, and that First Party shall be paid out of the proceeds of said assessment the sum of \$3,000.00 . . . . "

Provision is further made for the payment to the Commercial Bank of Spanish Fork of the sum of \$1.00 per share of stock in said water company and it is made the duty of the Commercial Bank of Spanish Fork to pay

to the First Party (O. A. Penrod) from the proceeds received by it from the said stock assessment, the sum of \$3000.00 to reimburse said First Party for his cash outlay above mentioned.

Plaintiffs' Exhibit "L" is designated Articles of Incorporation. This also is an unsigned agreement offered in evidence by plaintiffs. After setting out the formal matters and the purposes, it is provided in Article 7 that the officers shall be a board of five trustees, a president, a vice president, a secretary and a treasurer.

Article 9 provides that the following named persons, parties to this agreement, shall be officers of the corporation until the first annual meeting of stockholders:

"O. A. Penrod shall be a trustee and president.

D. Penrod shall be a trustee and vice president.

Lloyd Penrod shall be a trustee.

P. P. Thomas shall be a trustee and secretary.

Joseph Hanson shall be a trustee and treasurer."

Article 15 sets out the property owned by the corporation and conveyed to it by O. A. Penrod.

It is clear that these documents were all prepared subsequent to the meetings held at Elberta.

May we call attention to the fact that the minutes of December 8th and December 11th (Exhibits "7" & "8") proposed a program entirely consistent with Exhibits "J", "K" and "L".

As heretofore observed in our Statement of Facts,

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